Artificial Intelligence in Biomedical Engineering Algorithms That Preserve Lives

Editors

Mohammed Khalid Mohammed

Technical Engineering of Medical Devices, College of Technical Engineering, Al-kitab University, Iraq

Karrar Hamza Radhi Raheef

Department of Biomedical Engineering, College of Engineering, University of Thi Qar, Iraq

Sarraa Abdalkhliq Hasan

Department of Biomedical Engineering, College of Engineering, University of Warith Al-Anbiyaa, Iraq

Maryam Kadhim Neamah

Department of Biomedical Engineering, College of Engineering, University of Warith Al-Anbiyaa, Iraq

Bright Sky Publications TM

New Delhi

Published By: Bright Sky Publications

Bright Sky Publication Office No. 3, 1st Floor, Pocket - H34, SEC-3, Rohini, Delhi, 110085, India

Editors: Mohammed Khalid Mohammed, Karrar Hamza Radhi Raheef, Sarraa Abdalkhliq Hasan and Maryam Kadhim Neamah

The author/publisher has attempted to trace and acknowledge the materials reproduced in this publication and apologize if permission and acknowledgements to publish in this form have not been given. If any material has not been acknowledged please write and let us know so that we may rectify it.

© Bright Sky Publications

Edition: 1st

Publication Year: 2025

Pages: 66

Paperback ISBN: 978-93-6233-577-7

E-Book ISBN: 978-93-6233-891-4

DOI: https://doi.org/10.62906/bs.book.423

Price: ₹ 505/-

Contents

S. No.	Chapters	Page No.
	Abstract	01
1.	Introduction to Artificial Intelligence in Biomedical Engineering	02-03
2.	Historical Evolution of AI in Biomedical Engineering	04-06
3.	Principles and Foundations of AI Algorithms in Biomedicine	07-10
4.	AI in Medical Imaging and Diagnostics	11-14
5.	AI in Biosignal Analysis (ECG, EEG, EMG)	15-18
6.	AI in Wearable Healthcare and Remote Monitoring	19-22
7.	AI in Drug Discovery and Development	23-26
8.	AI in Precision Medicine and Individualized Treatment Planning	27-30
9.	AI in Clinical Decision Support and Reducing Diagnostic Errors	31-34
10.	Future Directions in AI and Biomedical Engineering	35-38
11.	Artificial Intelligence in Robotic Surgery and Minimally Invasive Procedures	39-41
12.	Final Reflections: Intelligence, Innovation, and the Future of Human-Centered Healthcare	42-44
13.	A Call to Action: Building the Future of Ethical and Equitable AI in Biomedicine	45-47
14.	Conclusion	48-49
	References	50-66

Abstract

Algorithms that save lives: Artificial intelligence in biomedical engineering explores the transformative role of Artificial Intelligence (AI) in revolutionizing modern medicine through its integration into biomedical engineering. As healthcare systems face increasing complexity, data overload, and the urgent need for personalized and scalable solutions, AI emerges as a powerful catalyst for innovation enhancing diagnosis, accelerating drug discovery, supporting clinical decision-making, and enabling real-time, patient-specific care.

This book provides a comprehensive and interdisciplinary examination of how AI algorithms are reshaping the biomedical landscape. It begins by outlining the historical evolution of AI in medicine, followed by a detailed analysis of core algorithmic principles, including supervised unsupervised learning, deep neural networks, and reinforcement learning. Subsequent chapters delve into specific applications, including AI in medical imaging, biosignal analysis (ECG, EEG, EMG), wearable health monitoring, and drug discovery. The book further explores the impact of AI on precision medicine, clinical decision support, and error reduction, culminating in a discussion on emerging forward-looking technologies, ethical considerations, and the future of intelligent systems in global health.

By synthesizing insights from engineering, data science, and clinical practice, this book serves as both a scholarly reference and a forward-thinking roadmap for researchers, clinicians, and technologists. It emphasizes not only the potential of AI to save lives but also the importance of building systems that are interpretable, equitable, and human-centered. Through rigorous analysis and real-world examples, the text underscores a core message: when designed responsibly, AI does not merely assist medicine it redefines its possibilities.

Introduction to Artificial Intelligence in Biomedical Engineering

Over the past decade, Artificial Intelligence (AI) has emerged as a transformative force across numerous disciplines, none more so than in biomedical engineering. Once confined to theoretical exploration and experimental prototypes, AI technologies are now being integrated into the core of clinical decision-making, diagnostic instrumentation, and personalized patient care. As healthcare systems increasingly rely on data-driven models and computational precision, AI has become not merely a tool of innovation but a critical infrastructure for modern medicine.

Biomedical engineering, situated at the intersection of engineering, biology, and medicine, is uniquely positioned to leverage the power of AI. By integrating machine learning algorithms with physiological data, imaging modalities, and biosignal monitoring systems, researchers and clinicians can detect diseases earlier, predict patient outcomes with greater accuracy, and optimize therapeutic interventions. The ability of AI to process vast volumes of complex, high-dimensional, and nonlinear data far exceeds the analytical capacity of conventional methods or even experienced human practitioners.

In this context, AI serves not only as an analytical engine but as an enabler of precision medicine. Its applications range from real-time cardiac monitoring and intelligent imaging diagnostics to adaptive prosthetics, robotic surgery, and predictive modeling in genomics. For example, Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) have been employed to analyze radiographic images for tumor detection, while Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) have been applied to Electrocardiogram (ECG) signals to predict arrhythmias before the onset of symptoms. Moreover, reinforcement learning and unsupervised clustering algorithms have enabled novel insights into patient stratification, treatment personalization, and longitudinal disease progression.

One of the central themes explored throughout this book is the paradigm shift from rule-based diagnostic systems to data-driven algorithmic models. These AI-driven systems are not limited to mimicking human reasoning they often uncover latent patterns and subtle correlations that would otherwise remain invisible to human experts. As such, AI has begun to redefine what is possible in clinical diagnostics and biomedical instrumentation.

Nevertheless, the integration of AI into biomedical engineering is not without its challenges. Key concerns include algorithmic transparency (the so-called "black-box problem"), data privacy and security, model generalizability across diverse populations, and ethical implications in automated decision-making. Addressing these issues requires a collaborative approach that spans engineering, clinical medicine, computer science, ethics, and regulatory science.

This book aims to serve as both a technical reference and a conceptual framework for understanding the role of artificial intelligence in saving lives through biomedical innovation. In the chapters that follow, we will explore in depth the core algorithms, real-world applications, validation methodologies, and regulatory considerations that underpin AI's impact in this domain. Each chapter is grounded in peer-reviewed evidence and reflects the interdisciplinary nature of the field bridging theory, engineering practice, and clinical outcomes.

As biomedical engineering continues to evolve, the integration of intelligent algorithms will not only improve diagnostic accuracy and therapeutic efficiency but also redefine the patient experience. Ultimately, this book highlights how AI when designed and applied responsibly can become one of the most powerful allies in our collective pursuit of better health and longer life.

Historical Evolution of AI in Biomedical Engineering

The integration of artificial intelligence (AI) into biomedical engineering did not occur in a single, transformative leap but rather emerged through a sequence of foundational developments in both computational science and biomedical technology. Understanding the historical trajectory of AI in this domain is essential for appreciating the sophistication of current systems and for anticipating future innovations that may further revolutionize healthcare delivery and biomedical research.

2.1 The origins of computational intelligence in medicine

The earliest applications of computational methods in healthcare date back to the 1960s, when rule-based expert systems such as MYCIN and DENDRAL were developed. MYCIN, for instance, was designed at Stanford University to assist physicians in diagnosing bacterial infections and recommending antibiotic treatments. While these systems demonstrated the theoretical utility of AI in clinical decision support, they were limited by their reliance on static, hand-coded rules and lacked the adaptability seen in modern machine learning algorithms.

Concurrently, biomedical engineers began integrating digital electronics into diagnostic devices, including the development of digital ECG machines and computer-aided tomography. This digitization of biological signals and images laid the groundwork for algorithmic interpretation, as raw data became increasingly available for computational processing. Still, the power of early computers and the limitations in data storage and acquisition technologies constrained the full deployment of intelligent systems.

2.2 The emergence of machine learning in biomedical contexts

The 1990s and early 2000s marked a critical inflection point, as the emergence of machine learning allowed systems to learn from data rather than rely solely on predefined rules. Algorithms such as Support Vector Machines (SVMs) and k-Nearest Neighbors (k-NN) began to appear in applications like heartbeat classification, cancer diagnosis from cytology images, and prediction of patient outcomes from electronic health records.

This period also witnessed the rise of bioinformatics, as high-throughput techniques like DNA microarrays and next-generation sequencing began to generate massive biological datasets. The growing need to analyze gene expression patterns, protein structures, and molecular pathways drove the application of clustering, dimensionality reduction, and predictive modeling methods that formed the basis for more complex deep learning systems later on.

2.3 Deep learning and the AI renaissance

The so-called "AI renaissance" of the 2010s, driven by advances in computational hardware (notably GPUs), open-source software frameworks (such as TensorFlow and PyTorch), and the availability of large-scale datasets, marked a new era in biomedical engineering. Deep learning models particularly Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) and Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) demonstrated remarkable performance in areas such as medical image classification, natural language processing of clinical notes, and time-series analysis of physiological signals.

Notable breakthroughs include the use of deep CNNs in dermatology to classify skin lesions at a level comparable to board-certified dermatologists, and the application of Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) networks to predict sepsis onset from ICU patient data. These achievements have not only validated the technical feasibility of AI in high-stakes environments but have also underscored the potential of algorithmic intelligence to complement or in some cases, outperform human judgment in routine clinical tasks.

2.4 Biomedical devices and embedded intelligence

Simultaneously, advances in microelectronics and embedded systems engineering facilitated the development of smart medical devices, such as wearable ECG monitors, insulin pumps, and neurostimulators. These devices now often incorporate on-board AI capabilities, enabling real-time data analysis, anomaly detection, and even adaptive therapeutic delivery.

For instance, implantable cardioverter defibrillators (ICDs) equipped with AI algorithms can now detect lethal arrhythmias and deliver life-saving interventions autonomously. Similarly, prosthetic limbs with embedded learning systems can adapt to the user's gait and environmental context, significantly enhancing functionality and quality of life.

2.5 Regulatory and institutional milestones

As AI systems began to influence clinical decision-making and

therapeutic strategies, regulatory agencies such as the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) responded by issuing frameworks for the evaluation and approval of AI-enabled medical devices. The FDA's 2019 discussion paper on the regulation of Software as a Medical Device (SaMD) highlighted the importance of algorithm transparency, real-world performance monitoring, and risk stratification.

Institutionally, collaborations between academia, hospitals, and industry such as Google Health, IBM Watson Health, and the UK's NHSX have accelerated the translation of AI research into clinically deployable systems. However, these alliances have also raised critical questions regarding data ownership, bias mitigation, and the ethical use of predictive analytics.

Principles and Foundations of AI Algorithms in Biomedicine

Artificial intelligence in biomedical engineering is underpinned by a diverse array of computational models, mathematical frameworks, and learning strategies. These principles form the backbone of intelligent systems that can analyze, interpret, and act upon complex biomedical data. This chapter introduces the core foundations of AI algorithms as they pertain to biomedical applications, including supervised and unsupervised learning, neural networks, optimization techniques, and model evaluation metrics.

3.1 Supervised learning: Mapping inputs to medical outcomes

Supervised learning is one of the most prevalent approaches in biomedical AI, particularly in tasks that involve classification or regression based on labeled datasets. In this paradigm, an algorithm is trained on input-output pairs e.g., patient features and corresponding disease labels so that it can learn a mapping function to predict outcomes on unseen data.

Common examples in biomedicine include

- Classifying ECG signals as normal or arrhythmic.
- Predicting disease progression from patient demographics and clinical biomarkers.
- Segmenting tumors in radiological images.

Popular algorithms include:

- Logistic regression for binary classification.
- Support Vector Machines (SVMs) for high-dimensional data.
- Random forests and gradient boosting for structured clinical data.
- Deep Neural Networks (DNNs) for images, sequences, and unstructured text.

A well-curated and balanced training dataset is crucial to the success of supervised models, as real-world biomedical datasets often suffer from class imbalance (e.g., rare disease cases) and noisy annotations (e.g., interobserver variability in radiology).

3.2 Unsupervised learning: Discovering hidden structure in biomedical data

Unsupervised learning is employed when labeled outcomes are unavailable or when the goal is to explore the underlying structure of biomedical data. This is especially useful in genomics, proteomics, and multi-omics studies where complex biological relationships are not yet fully understood.

Key techniques include

- Clustering algorithms (e.g., k-means, DBSCAN) to group similar patient profiles.
- Dimensionality reduction methods (e.g., PCA, t-SNE, UMAP) to visualize high-dimensional biological datasets.
- Autoencoders for denoising signals or compressing data for downstream tasks.

In clinical settings, unsupervised models can help stratify patient subtypes, identify novel disease phenotypes, or generate hypotheses for further research.

3.3 Deep learning: Building hierarchical representations of biomedical patterns

Deep learning, a subfield of machine learning based on artificial neural networks with multiple layers, has become particularly influential in biomedical applications due to its ability to learn hierarchical feature representations from raw data.

Common architectures

- Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs): Ideal for image analysis tasks such as tumor detection, segmentation, and radiograph classification.
- Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) and LSTMs: Effective for time-series data such as EEG, ECG, and continuous glucose monitoring.
- **Transformers:** Originally developed for natural language processing, now widely used for clinical text analysis (e.g., electronic health records, clinical notes).

These architectures are often trained using backpropagation, which adjusts weights in the network by minimizing a loss function using gradient descent or more advanced optimizers like Adam or RMSprop.

3.4 Reinforcement learning: Decision-making in dynamic clinical environments

Reinforcement Learning (RL) models learn optimal actions through trial and error interactions with an environment, making them highly suitable for sequential decision-making in healthcare.

Examples include

- Adaptive insulin dosing systems in diabetic care.
- Personalized treatment planning in oncology.
- Real-time robotic control in surgical assistance.

In RL, the agent learns a policy $\pi(s)$ that maps a states (e.g., a patient's clinical status) to an action a (e.g., dosage adjustment) by maximizing a reward function over time. While promising, RL in healthcare remains limited due to challenges in defining reliable reward structures and the high cost of exploration in real clinical settings.

3.5 Model evaluation: Accuracy, generalizability, and clinical validity

In biomedical AI, it is not enough for a model to perform well on training data it must generalize reliably to new patients, settings, and populations. Hence, rigorous model evaluation is essential.

Key metrics

- Accuracy, precision, recall, and F1-score (for classification tasks).
- ROC-AUC and PR-AUC (for imbalanced datasets).
- Mean squared error (MSE) or mean absolute error (MAE) (for regression).
- Calibration curves to assess the reliability of probabilistic predictions.

Beyond technical metrics, clinical relevance and interpretability are critical. A model that is accurate but not interpretable may be unsuitable in high-stakes settings. Techniques like SHAP (Shapley Additive Explanations) and LIME (Local Interpretable Model-agnostic Explanations) are increasingly used to provide transparency.

3.6 Data considerations: Bias, fairness, and ethical integrity

AI models are only as good as the data they learn from. Biomedical datasets often contain systemic biases, missing values, and underrepresented groups. Without appropriate mitigation strategies, algorithms may perpetuate or amplify health disparities.

Strategies to address these challenges include:

- Data augmentation and balancing techniques.
- Bias audits and fairness metrics (e.g., demographic parity, equal opportunity).
- Robustness testing under different clinical scenarios.

Ethical integrity in biomedical AI requires multidisciplinary oversight to ensure that models respect privacy, are explainable, and align with clinical values and societal norms.

AI in Medical Imaging and Diagnostics

Medical imaging represents one of the most transformative frontiers for Artificial Intelligence (AI) in biomedical engineering. With the exponential growth in imaging modalities ranging from radiography and Computed Tomography (CT) to Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and ultrasound the clinical demand for accurate, fast, and reproducible interpretation has never been greater. AI, particularly deep learning, has emerged as a powerful tool for automating image analysis, enhancing diagnostic precision, and reducing the cognitive burden on clinicians.

4.1 The role of imaging in clinical decision-making

Imaging is central to the diagnosis, staging, and monitoring of numerous medical conditions, including cancer, cardiovascular diseases, neurological disorders, and musculoskeletal injuries. The effectiveness of imaging, however, relies heavily on the radiologist's ability to detect and interpret subtle abnormalities. This process is time-intensive, subject to interobserver variability, and prone to fatigue-related errors.

AI systems offer a means to augment the diagnostic process through:

- Automated detection of lesions, nodules, or structural anomalies.
- Quantitative segmentation of anatomical structures (e.g., tumor volume).
- Classification of tissue types or disease stages.
- Prediction of disease progression or treatment response.

By integrating these functionalities into clinical workflows, AI not only accelerates the diagnostic timeline but also enhances reproducibility and objectivity.

4.2 Deep learning architectures in image analysis

Deep learning, particularly convolutional neural networks (CNNs), has revolutionized the field of image recognition and is now the standard for AIbased medical imaging.

Key applications include

- **Detection of malignancies:** CNNs trained on mammograms can identify breast cancer with performance comparable to expert radiologists.
- Brain MRI segmentation: U-Net and its variants are used for delineating brain tumors, white matter lesions, and anatomical substructures.
- **Chest X-ray interpretation:** Models like CheXNet have demonstrated proficiency in identifying pneumonia, pleural effusions, and cardiomegaly.
- **Ophthalmologic imaging:** AI systems can detect diabetic retinopathy, macular degeneration, and glaucoma from retinal fundus photographs and OCT scans.

These models are often trained on large public datasets (e.g., NIH ChestX-ray14, BraTS, MIMIC-CXR) and refined using transfer learning to accommodate specific clinical environments.

4.3 Beyond detection: AI for diagnostic and prognostic insight

While early AI tools focused on image-level classification, recent advances have enabled higher-order tasks such as:

- **Multimodal fusion:** Integrating imaging with genomics, clinical history, or lab values to improve diagnostic accuracy.
- **Radiogenomics:** Linking imaging features with molecular biomarkers to noninvasively predict tumor genotype.
- **Prognostic modeling:** Using longitudinal imaging data to forecast disease trajectory or treatment outcomes.

Such models are now being embedded into Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS), offering real-time guidance to physicians during diagnosis and planning.

4.4 Real-world implementation and regulatory considerations

Despite the promise of AI, transitioning from research prototypes to clinically deployed tools requires addressing several practical challenges:

• **Data variability:** Imaging protocols, scanner types, and population demographics vary significantly across institutions, necessitating model generalization and robust validation.

- **Regulatory approval:** Bodies like the U.S. FDA and the European Medicines Agency require rigorous testing to certify safety and efficacy. AI software may be categorized as "Software as a Medical Device" (SaMD), subject to post-market surveillance.
- Integration with PACS and EHR systems: Seamless interoperability is crucial for adoption. AI tools must be integrated into radiologists' existing workflows without adding friction.
- **Human-AI collaboration:** AI is most effective when used to complement, not replace, human expertise. Strategies for human-in-the-loop systems are essential to ensure accountability and trust.

4.5 Challenges and ethical concerns in AI-powered imaging

While AI enhances efficiency and accuracy, it also introduces novel concerns:

- **Bias and equity:** If training data lacks diversity, AI systems may perform poorly on underrepresented populations, exacerbating health disparities.
- Opacity of decision-making: Deep learning models often operate
 as "black boxes," making it difficult to explain why a particular
 diagnosis was made. This poses challenges for accountability and
 medico-legal responsibility.
- Overreliance on AI: There is a risk of automation bias, where clinicians defer to AI predictions even when their judgment may be more accurate.

To address these concerns, explainable AI (XAI) methods such as saliency maps and class activation mappings (CAMs) are being developed to improve transparency.

4.6 Case studies in clinical practice

Several AI-based imaging tools have already achieved regulatory approval and are in clinical use:

- **IDx-DR:** An FDA-approved system for automated detection of diabetic retinopathy from retinal images.
- **Aidoc:** Provides real-time triage alerts for radiologists by flagging acute conditions (e.g., intracranial hemorrhage) on CT scans.
- HeartFlow FFR-CT: Uses AI and computational modeling to evaluate blood flow and determine the functional significance of coronary artery disease.

These examples underscore AI's growing role as a diagnostic co-pilot, capable of transforming not only radiology but the broader spectrum of image-dependent medicine.

AI in Biosignal Analysis (ECG, EEG, EMG)

Biosignals continuous recordings of physiological activity such as electrical impulses from the heart (ECG), brain (EEG), and muscles (EMG) form a critical component of diagnostic and monitoring systems in medicine. However, the complexity, variability, and volume of biosignal data present significant challenges for manual interpretation. Artificial Intelligence (AI), particularly machine learning and deep learning, is increasingly employed to automate, augment, and enhance the analysis of biosignals across clinical and research settings.

This chapter explores the role of AI in biosignal interpretation, the unique characteristics of ECG, EEG, and EMG data, the architecture of learning models used in signal processing, and emerging applications that are transforming real-time patient monitoring and predictive diagnostics.

5.1 Characteristics of biosignals and analytical challenges

Biosignals differ significantly from other biomedical data types due to their:

- **Time-series nature** Biosignals are continuous and dynamic over time.
- **Noise sensitivity** Signals are often affected by motion artifacts, electrode placement, and physiological variability.
- **Non-stationarity** Signal patterns can change over time and vary significantly between individuals.
- **High dimensionality** Multichannel recordings (e.g., 12-lead ECG, 64-channel EEG) produce complex spatial-temporal datasets.

Traditional signal processing techniques (e.g., Fourier transforms, wavelet decomposition) have served as the foundation for biosignal analysis. However, these methods often rely on handcrafted features and domain-specific heuristics, which may miss subtle or non-obvious patterns. AI offers a data-driven alternative that can learn from raw or minimally preprocessed signals.

5.2 AI in Electrocardiography (ECG)

Electrocardiograms record the heart's electrical activity and are pivotal in diagnosing arrhythmias, myocardial infarction, conduction blocks, and other cardiac abnormalities.

AI-driven ECG applications include

- Beat classification (e.g., distinguishing normal, premature, or ventricular beats).
- Arrhythmia detection (e.g., atrial fibrillation, ventricular tachycardia).
- Myocardial infarction prediction using 12-lead ECG data.
- Heart rate variability analysis for autonomic function assessment.
- Cardiac arrest prediction in ICU and emergency settings.

Architectures used

- 1D Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) for feature extraction from ECG waveforms.
- Recurrent Neural Networks (RNNs) and LSTM networks for modeling temporal dependencies.
- Transformers for long-range signal modeling.

Notable examples

- The PhysioNet Challenge datasets have driven significant algorithm development.
- AI models developed by Mayo Clinic have predicted conditions like asymptomatic left ventricular dysfunction directly from ECG traces.

5.3 AI in Electroencephalography (EEG)

EEG records the brain's electrical activity and is essential in neurology, particularly for diagnosing epilepsy, sleep disorders, and cognitive impairment.

AI applications in EEG include

- Seizure detection and prediction, enabling timely therapeutic intervention.
- Sleep stage classification, supporting diagnosis of sleep apnea and insomnia.
- Cognitive load and attention estimation in human-computer interaction.

- Brain-computer interfaces (BCIs) for communication in patients with motor disabilities.
- Neurodegenerative disease screening, including early detection of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's.

Challenges in EEG AI

- High inter-subject variability.
- Non-stationary and noise-prone signals.
- Need for real-time, low-latency inference in BCIs.

Common architectures

- Multichannel CNNs to extract spatial patterns across electrodes.
- Temporal Convolutional Networks (TCNs) and LSTMs for sequence modeling.
- Graph Neural Networks (GNNs) to represent inter-regional connectivity.

5.4 AI in Electromyography (EMG)

EMG measures electrical activity from muscles and is widely used in rehabilitation, orthopedics, prosthetics, and neuromuscular disease diagnosis.

AI use cases for EMG

- Gesture and motion recognition for prosthetic limb control.
- Fatigue monitoring in physical therapy and sports science.
- Diagnosis of neuromuscular disorders, such as ALS and myasthenia gravis.
- Human-machine interfaces for assistive robotics and exoskeletons.

ML models in EMG

- CNNs for spatial-temporal feature learning.
- Support vector machines and k-NN for movement classification.
- Hybrid models integrating EMG with inertial sensors for improved performance.

5.5 Wearable devices and edge AI in biosignal monitoring

Recent advances in microelectronics have enabled continuous biosignal monitoring via wearable sensors, such as smartwatches, chest bands, and adhesive patches.

AI enables

- On-device signal denoising and quality assessment.
- Detection of anomalies (e.g., atrial fibrillation episodes) in real time.
- Personalized modeling for each user's unique biosignal patterns.
- Edge computing approaches allow AI inference directly on lowpower devices, reducing the need for cloud connectivity.

Examples

- Apple Watch and Fitbit incorporate FDA-cleared ECG detection features.
- Wearables with AI-enabled EMG analysis are being used in stroke rehabilitation and gait training.

5.6 Limitations, interpretability, and future trends

While AI has demonstrated substantial potential in biosignal analysis, several limitations remain:

- Interpretability of deep learning models remains limited in critical applications (e.g., seizure prediction).
- Label quality is often poor, especially in large-scale EEG datasets that require expert annotation.
- Real-time constraints require efficient model architectures with minimal latency.
- Ethical and regulatory oversight is essential when models are used for life-critical decisions.

Emerging directions

- Self-supervised learning for biosignal feature extraction with limited labels.
- Explainable AI (XAI) frameworks for biosignal models.
- Federated learning to build privacy-preserving models across hospitals.
- Cross-modal models that integrate ECG, EEG, EMG with clinical, genetic, and imaging data for holistic understanding.

AI in Wearable Healthcare and Remote Monitoring

The convergence of wearable technology and Artificial Intelligence (AI) has ushered in a new era of personalized, continuous, and proactive healthcare. By embedding sensors into everyday devices watches, patches, textiles, and even eyewear wearables can unobtrusively collect physiological, behavioral, and environmental data in real time. When combined with intelligent algorithms, these data streams become actionable insights, enabling early disease detection, chronic disease management, and population-scale health analytics outside the boundaries of clinical environments.

This chapter explores how AI transforms raw wearable data into clinically relevant decisions, the architectures that enable real-time inference, key clinical applications, and the emerging ecosystem of remote patient monitoring systems.

6.1 The rise of smart wearables in healthcare

Wearable devices have evolved from fitness trackers into sophisticated health monitoring platforms. Modern wearables are equipped with a variety of sensors, including:

- **Photoplethysmography** (**PPG**): for heart rate and blood oxygen monitoring.
- **Electrocardiography** (**ECG**): for rhythm detection and arrhythmia screening.
- Accelerometers and gyroscopes: for activity recognition and fall detection.
- **Electromyography (EMG):** for muscle activation monitoring.
- Galvanic skin response (GSR): for stress and emotional state inference.
- Temperature and sweat sensors: for hydration and metabolic tracking.

These sensors generate high-frequency data streams which, without intelligent processing, would be overwhelming and difficult to interpret. AI

addresses this gap by learning patterns in the data, identifying anomalies, and generating predictive or diagnostic outputs.

6.2 AI-Powered inference on wearables and edge devices

AI models must be optimized for resource-constrained environments such as wearable processors or mobile phones. Techniques enabling this include:

- Model compression (e.g., pruning, quantization).
- TinyML frameworks for deploying lightweight models.
- Edge computing architectures, where data is processed locally rather than transmitted to the cloud.

Benefits include:

- Low latency for real-time health alerts.
- Energy efficiency for longer battery life.
- Enhanced privacy, as sensitive data need not be continuously transmitted.

Advanced wearables, such as the Apple Watch, Fitbit Sense, and Withings ScanWatch, already deploy on-device AI for arrhythmia detection, atrial fibrillation screening, and sleep analysis.

6.3 Clinical applications of AI in wearables

AI-enhanced wearable systems support a wide range of clinical use cases:

1. Cardiovascular monitoring

- Real-time detection of atrial fibrillation, bradycardia, and tachycardia.
- Post-operative telemetry in cardiac patients.
- Predictive analytics for heart failure decompensation.

2. Diabetes and metabolic health

- AI-integrated Continuous Glucose Monitors (CGMs) for trend prediction.
- Smart insulin pumps using reinforcement learning for closed-loop control.

3. Respiratory health

- Cough detection and respiratory rate estimation from acoustic and motion data.
- Sleep apnea detection using multi-sensor input (SpO₂, airflow, thoracic movement).

4. Neurology and rehabilitation

- Tremor analysis in Parkinson's disease via wearable inertial sensors.
- Fall detection and gait analysis in elderly or stroke patients.
- EMG-integrated prosthetics for motor intent decoding.

5. Mental and cognitive health

- AI algorithms identifying signs of depression or stress from sleep patterns, heart rate variability (HRV), and voice data.
- Wearable EEG headsets for cognitive workload monitoring or neurofeedback therapy.

6.4 Remote Patient Monitoring (RPM) and AI integration

Remote patient monitoring uses wearable devices to track health status outside hospitals, enabling chronic care management, early intervention, and reduction in emergency admissions.

AI enhances RPM by

- Prioritizing alerts based on severity and individual baselines.
- Detecting deteriorations before symptoms are reported.
- Customizing recommendations using patient-specific models.

Examples:

- Current Health and Biofourmis use AI to analyze multi-modal data from wearable kits to predict hospital readmission risks.
- Omron's HeartGuide monitors hypertensive patients at home using oscillometric sensors and predictive algorithms.

RPM platforms are increasingly integrated into Electronic Health Records (EHRs), giving clinicians a continuous view of patients' physiological states and enabling data-driven decision-making.

6.5 Ethical, regulatory, and technical challenges

Despite the promise, AI-enabled wearables face several key challenges:

- **Data quality:** Wearables can generate noisy or incomplete data due to improper usage, sensor drift, or environmental interference.
- **Privacy concerns:** Continuous monitoring raises ethical concerns about surveillance, data ownership, and consent.
- **Regulatory compliance:** Devices offering diagnostic or therapeutic insights are regulated as medical devices (e.g., by the FDA or CE).
- **User adherence:** Long-term engagement is often limited by wearability, device fatigue, and information overload.

Addressing these issues requires collaboration across stakeholders clinicians, engineers, ethicists, and regulators to develop standards for transparency, fairness, and clinical safety.

6.6 Future directions: Toward ambient intelligence and preventive care

The future of AI in wearables lies in ambient health intelligence systems that continuously sense, interpret, and respond to human physiology and behavior without user intervention.

Emerging trends include:

- **Multimodal fusion:** Combining voice, vision, biosignals, and context for holistic understanding.
- **Federated learning:** Training models across decentralized devices to preserve privacy.
- **Personalized AI:** Tailoring models to individual baseline physiology and behavior.
- **Predictive prevention:** Anticipating disease onset or acute events days or weeks in advance.

AI-enabled wearables will not merely react to illness but may proactively shape behaviors, deliver real-time interventions, and shift the paradigm from treatment to prevention.

AI in Drug Discovery and Development

The traditional drug discovery process is time-consuming, resource-intensive, and fraught with high failure rates. On average, it takes over a decade and billions of dollars to bring a new drug from initial discovery to market approval, with fewer than 10% of candidates surviving the clinical trial pipeline. Artificial Intelligence (AI) is revolutionizing this paradigm by introducing speed, precision, and scalability to every stage of pharmaceutical development from target identification to compound screening, clinical trial optimization, and beyond.

This chapter examines how AI is redefining drug discovery through data-driven insights, generative modeling, and predictive analytics, ultimately accelerating biomedical innovation and increasing the likelihood of therapeutic success.

7.1 Overview of the drug discovery pipeline

The drug discovery and development process typically involves several key stages:

- Target identification and validation Identifying biological molecules (e.g., proteins, genes) associated with disease mechanisms.
- 2. Hit discovery Screening large chemical libraries for molecules that interact with the target.
- 3. Lead optimization Refining compounds to improve efficacy, safety, and bioavailability.
- 4. Preclinical testing Assessing pharmacokinetics and toxicity *in vitro* and *in vivo*.
- 5. Clinical trials Evaluating safety and efficacy in humans across multiple trial phases.
- 6. Regulatory approval and post-market surveillance.

Each step generates massive amounts of heterogeneous data, presenting an opportunity for AI to accelerate, automate, or improve decision-making.

7.2 AI for target identification and validation

AI models, especially those powered by deep learning and network-based inference, are used to uncover novel therapeutic targets by:

- Mining biomedical literature and databases (e.g., PubMed, OMIM) for gene-disease associations.
- Analyzing multi-omics datasets (genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics) to identify dysregulated pathways.
- Constructing protein-protein interaction (PPI) networks and applying graph neural networks to predict essential nodes.
- Predicting protein structure using AI models like AlphaFold, which has dramatically improved the accuracy of structural biology.

These methods can highlight previously unexplored mechanisms of disease, opening new avenues for therapeutic intervention.

7.3 Virtual screening and compound design

Once targets are known, AI accelerates the search for active compounds using:

1. Virtual screening

- Ligand-based models (e.g., QSAR) predict biological activity from chemical features.
- Structure-based models use docking simulations combined with machine learning to predict binding affinity.

2. Generative models for molecular design

- Variational Autoencoders (VAEs) and Generative Adversarial Networks (GANs) create novel molecular structures with desired properties.
- Reinforcement learning is applied to fine-tune molecules by maximizing a reward function (e.g., potency, solubility, synthesizability).
- Language models for SMILES strings (e.g., ChemBERTa) treat molecules as sequences to be learned and manipulated.

AI enables de novo drug design, allowing researchers to generate and evaluate compounds without physically synthesizing them a drastic improvement in efficiency.

7.4 Predicting ADMET properties

One of the major causes of drug failure is poor pharmacokinetics or toxicity. AI is increasingly used to predict:

- **Absorption:** Will the compound be orally bioavailable?
- **Distribution:** How will it spread throughout the body?
- Metabolism: How is it broken down by liver enzymes?
- **Excretion:** How is it cleared?
- **Toxicity:** Will it cause off-target effects or organ damage?

By using supervised learning on large chemical datasets, AI models can flag unsafe compounds early, reducing costly late-stage failures and enhancing patient safety.

7.5 AI in clinical trial optimization

Clinical trials are a critical bottleneck in drug development. AI helps optimize:

- **Patient recruitment:** Natural language processing (NLP) systems match patients to trials using electronic health records (EHRs).
- **Trial design:** Simulations predict the best endpoints, stratification strategies, and dosing regimens.
- **Predictive modeling:** AI forecasts adverse events and dropout risks.
- **Digital biomarkers:** Wearable data and biosignals serve as surrogate endpoints for treatment response.

For example, AI platforms like Deep 6 AI and TriNetX accelerate trial enrollment by identifying eligible patients in real time, while Unlearn.AI builds digital twins to augment control groups, reducing the number of participants needed.

7.6 Collaborative platforms and industry adoption

Pharmaceutical and biotech companies are increasingly forming partnerships with AI firms to integrate these capabilities:

- *In silico* Medicine used deep generative models to identify and advance a preclinical candidate in under 18 months.
- BenevolentAI applied AI to identify baricitinib as a potential COVID-19 treatment.

- Atomwise uses structure-based AI for small molecule discovery across hundreds of targets.
- Exscientia delivered the first AI-designed molecule to enter Phase I trials.

Open-source initiatives and shared platforms such as MELLODDY, Open Targets, and DeepChem are fostering collaboration while maintaining data privacy and scientific rigor.

7.7 Ethical, regulatory, and scientific considerations

Despite its promise, AI in drug development raises important challenges:

- **Data quality and curation:** Biomedical data can be noisy, sparse, or biased.
- **Explainability:** Regulatory agencies demand transparency blackbox models can be difficult to validate.
- Reproducibility: Many AI studies lack standardized benchmarking or public reproducibility.
- **Bias and equity:** Algorithms must be tested across diverse populations to avoid excluding minority groups from clinical benefit.

Regulatory bodies like the FDA and EMA are actively developing frameworks for evaluating AI-enabled drug discovery tools, especially as they intersect with safety-critical decisions.

AI in Precision Medicine and Individualized Treatment Planning

The rise of precision medicine marks a fundamental shift from a "one-size-fits-all" approach in healthcare to one that accounts for the unique genetic, environmental, and lifestyle characteristics of each individual. Artificial Intelligence (AI) lies at the core of this transformation, enabling the integration and interpretation of vast, complex, and multidimensional data to guide personalized clinical decisions.

AI's capacity to model individual variability at scale allows for more accurate diagnosis, prediction of disease risk, and customized treatment strategies. In this chapter, we explore how AI empowers precision medicine, the data sources and models that make it possible, and the clinical implications of tailoring therapy to each patient.

8.1 What is precision medicine?

Precision medicine is the practice of using biological, behavioral, and environmental data to customize healthcare strategies for individual patients. It emphasizes:

- **Personalized diagnosis:** Identifying subtypes of diseases that respond differently to treatment.
- **Risk stratification:** Predicting who is at higher risk based on genomic or lifestyle data.
- **Tailored interventions:** Selecting the most effective therapy for each individual based on predicted outcomes.

AI enhances each of these pillars by discovering patterns across datasets that are too large and complex for manual interpretation.

8.2 Multimodal data integration in precision medicine

A major enabler of AI-driven precision medicine is the fusion of multiple data modalities, including:

• Genomic and proteomic data (e.g., mutations, gene expression profiles)

- Electronic health records (EHRs) (e.g., lab results, diagnoses, medications)
- Medical imaging
- Wearable sensor data (e.g., activity, heart rate, sleep)
- Social determinants of health

AI models such as deep neural networks, transformers, and graph-based learning are used to integrate these heterogeneous inputs and identify correlations and causative relationships between biomarkers and clinical outcomes.

8.3 Genomics and AI: From variants to treatments

Genomics is foundational to precision medicine. AI models analyze DNA and RNA data to:

- Identify pathogenic variants associated with inherited or somatic diseases.
- Predict gene expression based on epigenetic patterns or promoter sequences.
- Match patients to targeted therapies based on their tumor or germline mutation profile.

For example, AI algorithms are used to:

- Classify variants of unknown significance (VUS) in cancer genetics.
- Predict response to immunotherapies based on tumor mutational burden.
- Optimize CRISPR-based gene editing targets using deep learning models (e.g., DeepCRISPR).

8.4 AI in predictive and preventive care

AI helps anticipate health risks before symptoms emerge by identifying early-warning patterns. Applications include:

- Polygenic risk scores enhanced by machine learning to predict disease susceptibility.
- Longitudinal modeling of EHR data to predict onset of diseases like diabetes, depression, or Alzheimer's.
- Early deterioration alerts in hospitalized patients using real-time monitoring.

AI supports preventive care by shifting clinical attention to high-risk individuals, enabling early intervention, and reducing unnecessary treatments in low-risk groups.

8.5 Individualized treatment planning

AI-powered models are increasingly used to recommend or tailor treatments based on patient-specific data:

- Oncology: Predicting patient response to chemotherapy, radiation, or immunotherapy using tumor genomics and histopathology images.
- **Cardiology:** Recommending antihypertensive therapy based on blood pressure patterns, pharmacogenetics, and comorbidities.
- **Psychiatry:** Matching antidepressant medications based on patient history, biomarkers, and cognitive profiles.

Reinforcement learning and Bayesian optimization are used to dynamically adjust treatments as patient responses evolve forming the basis for closed-loop, adaptive therapy systems.

8.6 Digital twins in precision medicine

One of the most cutting-edge developments is the use of digital twins virtual representations of patients built from real-world data. These AI models simulate disease progression and treatment response, allowing clinicians to:

- Test treatment strategies in silico before applying them to patients.
- Visualize potential outcomes under different interventions.
- Continuously update the twin based on new data inputs.

Digital twins are being developed for cardiac care, oncology, intensive care units, and rare diseases offering a safe, cost-effective method to personalize care planning.

8.7 Ethical considerations in personalized AI healthcare

While AI facilitates personalization, it also raises unique ethical challenges:

- **Data privacy and security:** Sensitive genomic and behavioral data require robust protection.
- **Algorithmic bias:** Models trained on skewed datasets may exacerbate disparities.

- **Informed consent:** Patients must understand how AI contributes to their treatment.
- **Equity in access:** Ensuring AI-guided precision medicine benefits all populations not just those in data-rich regions or academic centers.

Ethical AI frameworks and fair model auditing are essential to ensure equitable, transparent, and trustworthy personalized care.

AI in Clinical Decision Support and Reducing Diagnostic Errors

Diagnostic accuracy lies at the heart of effective medical care. Yet despite advancements in healthcare, diagnostic errors remain a leading cause of preventable harm, affecting millions of patients annually. These errors can result from cognitive overload, time constraints, incomplete data, and the inherent complexity of modern medicine.

Artificial Intelligence (AI) is increasingly being adopted to support clinical decision-making, reduce diagnostic uncertainty, and improve safety and efficiency. By processing vast amounts of clinical data and providing evidence-based recommendations, AI-powered Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS) are becoming essential tools in enhancing diagnostic precision, guiding therapy, and minimizing human error.

9.1 Understanding diagnostic errors and their root causes

Diagnostic errors often result from a complex interplay of factors, including:

- Cognitive biases, such as anchoring or premature closure.
- Information overload, with physicians needing to synthesize growing volumes of data.
- Incomplete patient data, due to fragmented records or time-limited consultations.
- Rare diseases or atypical presentations, which may fall outside clinical experience.

Traditional CDSS attempted to address these challenges using rule-based logic and clinical guidelines. However, such systems often lacked flexibility, adaptability, and contextual awareness.

AI introduces a new generation of decision support tools that are datadriven, learning-enabled, and capable of probabilistic reasoning in real time.

9.2 AI-Enhanced Clinical Decision Support Systems (CDSS)

AI-powered CDSS leverage machine learning, Natural Language Processing (NLP), and knowledge representation to assist clinicians in making more informed and accurate decisions.

Core functions include

- Differential diagnosis generation based on symptoms, labs, and imaging.
- Risk stratification using predictive models (e.g., sepsis risk, stroke probability).
- Therapeutic recommendations customized to patient context.
- Alerting and triage for time-sensitive or abnormal findings.

These systems can be integrated into electronic health record (EHR) platforms and operate as background tools that flag high-risk situations or suggest next steps without disrupting clinical workflows.

9.3 Natural language processing in diagnostic support

Much of clinical knowledge and documentation is stored in unstructured text progress notes, radiology reports, pathology records. AI systems equipped with Natural Language Processing (NLP) can:

- Extract structured data from free-text notes.
- Identify patterns and trends in clinical documentation.
- Link symptoms and findings to potential diagnoses.

For example, NLP can scan an emergency department note and flag the possibility of a missed aortic dissection, or extract smoking history relevant to lung cancer risk assessment.

Large Language Models (LLMs), such as GPT-based systems, are also being explored for generating diagnostic hypotheses, answering medical questions, and supporting complex reasoning tasks.

9.4 Diagnostic algorithms in practice

Several AI systems have demonstrated the potential to reduce diagnostic errors:

- **DXplain and Isabel:** Early AI-based differential diagnosis tools used in teaching hospitals.
- IBM watson for oncology: Provided evidence-ranked cancer

treatment options (though later discontinued due to integration challenges).

 Clinical BERT and similar models: Trained on EHR data to improve predictive accuracy for outcomes like readmission or mortality.

AI has also shown promise in triage algorithms, such as:

- Babylon health and ada health: Symptom checker apps using AI to guide patients toward appropriate care.
- Triage and early warning systems in emergency and ICU settings to detect patient deterioration.

9.5 Benefits of AI in reducing diagnostic errors

AI contributes to diagnostic safety through:

- Pattern recognition beyond human perception, especially in rare or complex diseases.
- Objective interpretation of data, free from emotional or cognitive bias.
- Augmenting less experienced clinicians, helping to equalize expertise across care settings.
- Continuous learning from updated datasets and outcomes.

These benefits translate into earlier diagnosis, reduced unnecessary testing, and better patient outcomes particularly in high-risk, time-sensitive scenarios like sepsis, stroke, and cancer.

9.6 Challenges and risks of AI in clinical decision support

Despite its advantages, AI in CDSS also presents challenges:

- **Overreliance:** Clinicians may become overly dependent on AI, risking de-skilling.
- **Alert fatigue:** Excessive or poorly prioritized alerts can be ignored or disabled.
- **Explainability:** Clinicians may hesitate to trust AI recommendations without transparent reasoning.
- **Integration hurdles:** Seamless embedding into existing EHR workflows remains a technical and usability challenge.
- **Legal and ethical concerns:** Who is liable when an AI-based recommendation contributes to harm?

To address these risks, human-AI collaboration must be designed thoughtfully. Clinicians should remain the final decision-makers, with AI acting as an advisor not a replacement.

9.7 Human-centered design in AI decision support

Effective deployment of AI in clinical decision-making requires:

- User-centered interfaces that deliver insights concisely and intuitively.
- Context-aware alerts that prioritize clinical relevance and urgency.
- Iterative feedback loops between clinicians and systems to refine model performance.
- Training programs that empower users to understand and interpret AI outputs.

AI's role is not to replace clinical judgment, but to enhance it offering a second set of "intelligent eyes" that reduce the margin of error while improving speed and consistency.

Future Directions in AI and Biomedical Engineering

Artificial Intelligence (AI) has already begun to redefine the landscape of biomedical engineering by improving diagnostics, accelerating drug discovery, and enabling personalized care. However, the current capabilities of AI represent only the early stages of what is possible. The convergence of AI with advances in biotechnology, robotics, genomics, and data science suggests a future where intelligent systems will not only assist in care delivery but actively drive new paradigms in how health and disease are understood, managed, and prevented.

This chapter explores the emerging frontiers and transformative potentials of AI in biomedical engineering including next-generation technologies, new models of computation and care, and the ethical, regulatory, and societal frameworks that will shape the road ahead.

10.1 Toward generalizable and adaptive intelligence

Most current AI systems in biomedicine are narrow in scope, designed for specific tasks or datasets. Future systems will aim for:

- Transfer learning across domains: Leveraging knowledge from one application (e.g., dermatology) to improve performance in another (e.g., radiology).
- Few-shot and zero-shot learning: Enabling AI to generalize from very small amounts of labeled data.
- Continual learning: Systems that update and evolve with new patient data and emerging medical knowledge without retraining from scratch.

These capabilities would allow AI models to function more flexibly in real-world clinical settings, adapting to changes in demographics, disease presentations, and healthcare infrastructure.

10.2 Explainable and trustworthy AI

The "black box" nature of many machine learning models poses a significant barrier to clinical trust and regulatory approval. The future will

prioritize explainability, enabling clinicians to understand, interpret, and challenge AI decisions.

Emerging tools include:

- Saliency maps and attention visualization in imaging.
- SHAP and LIME for feature attribution in structured data.
- Causal inference models that go beyond correlation to suggest underlying mechanisms.

These tools will be essential in high-stakes domains such as oncology, critical care, and autonomous surgery, where accountability and transparency are non-negotiable.

10.3 Federated and privacy-preserving learning

As data privacy regulations (e.g., GDPR, HIPAA) tighten, federated learning has emerged as a powerful paradigm that enables AI training across decentralized datasets without sharing raw data.

- Hospitals and institutions collaborate by training models locally and aggregating updates centrally.
- Techniques such as differential privacy and homomorphic encryption add further protection.

This approach not only enhances data security but also ensures broader model generalizability by incorporating data from diverse populations and clinical environments.

10.4 Integration with emerging technologies

The future of AI in biomedical engineering lies in its synergy with other technological frontiers, including:

- **Synthetic biology:** AI-guided design of gene circuits, biosensors, and smart therapeutics.
- **Bioelectronic medicine:** Closed-loop neural interfaces that monitor and modulate organ systems using AI-based feedback.
- **Nanomedicine:** Smart nanoparticles that sense, compute, and deliver targeted therapies *in vivo*.
- Quantum computing: Accelerating the simulation of molecular interactions and protein folding beyond the limits of classical computation.

These intersections will unlock new diagnostics, therapies, and delivery systems that operate at the molecular and cellular levels.

10.5 Human-AI symbiosis in medicine

Beyond automation, the vision is of symbiotic intelligence, where humans and AI collaborate in diagnosis, surgery, education, and care delivery.

Examples include

- **AI-assisted surgery:** Real-time feedback and precision augmentation.
- **Digital clinical tutors:** Personalized training for medical students and professionals.
- **Cognitive prosthetics:** AI systems that support memory, decision-making, or communication in neurologically impaired individuals.

In these systems, AI is not a tool to replace professionals, but a partner that augments human strengths and compensates for limitations.

10.6 Ethical and societal futures

As AI's capabilities grow, so do the questions it raises:

- Who controls the data and the algorithms?
- How do we ensure equitable access and benefit-sharing?
- What happens when AI decisions conflict with human values or norms?
- How do we preserve clinician-patient trust in an increasingly algorithm-driven system?

Answering these questions requires a proactive, interdisciplinary approach combining engineering, medicine, law, ethics, sociology, and public policy. Governance frameworks will need to evolve alongside technology to ensure that innovation aligns with societal goals.

10.7 Global health and democratization of AI

Perhaps the most powerful potential of AI lies in bridging global health disparities. AI systems, once trained, are infinitely scalable and deployable across regions with limited access to specialists or infrastructure.

- Mobile-based diagnostic tools can bring expert-level care to rural areas.
- AI-powered telemedicine platforms can triage, diagnose, and monitor patients remotely.

• Open-source health AI tools and datasets can foster inclusive innovation across borders.

In the future, AI may not just improve existing healthcare systems it may build entirely new ones for populations previously left behind.

Artificial Intelligence in Robotic Surgery and Minimally Invasive Procedures

11.1 Introduction: How AI is revolutionizing surgery

Robotic surgery has emerged as one of the most advanced applications of Artificial Intelligence (AI) in biomedical engineering. Through machine learning and real-time image processing, modern robotic surgical systems now offer unprecedented precision, reduce human error, and improve patient outcomes. This chapter explores how AI is transforming surgical procedures by enabling:

- AI-powered surgical planning using 3D modeling
- Real-time intraoperative guidance with computer vision.
- Semi-autonomous systems that learn from each procedure.

11.2 The evolution of robotic surgery

First generation: Robot-Assisted Surgery (e.g., da Vinci System)

Relied on manual surgeon control, with enhanced precision through tremor reduction.

Did not incorporate AI, focusing instead on mechanical accuracy.

Second generation: AI-Enhanced Robotic Surgery

Integrated deep learning to analyze medical images (e.g., tumor detection).

Systems like Verb Surgical (Google-Verily collaboration) used AI for optimized surgical planning.

Third generation: Semi-Autonomous Robotic Surgery

Certain tasks (e.g., suturing, tissue dissection) can be automated under surgeon supervision.

Example: STAR (Smart Tissue Autonomous Robot) performed complex soft-tissue surgeries with superhuman precision.

11.3 How AI powers robotic surgery

1) AI-driven surgical planning

AI analyzes CT/MRI scans to create 3D models of patient anatomy.

Identifies tumors, blood vessels, and nerves to optimize surgical approaches.

Example: MAKO Robotic System calculates ideal implant positioning in orthopedic surgeries.

2) Real-time intraoperative guidance

Systems like Kinova use AI to align live surgical views with preoperative plans.

Adjusts for organ movement (e.g., breathing-induced shifts) autonomously.

Tissue differentiation algorithms distinguish tumors from healthy tissue using CNNs.

3) Machine learning for continuous improvement

Robots record surgical data (e.g., time, force applied, complications).

AI analyzes this data to refine techniques for future procedures.

Example: OpenAI Surgical learns from thousands of surgeries to enhance precision.

11.4 Examples of AI-powered surgical systems

System	Function	AI Role
da Vinci XI	Minimally invasive surgery	Enhanced visualization & precision
STAR (Johns Hopkins)	Autonomous intestinal surgery	Self-suturing via computer vision
MAKO (Stryker)	Joint replacement	3D planning & implant optimization
Verb Surgical	Comprehensive surgical platform	Integrates ML with surgical data

11.5 Challenges and risks

1) Legal liability

Who is responsible for robotic errors? Surgeons, manufacturers, or AI developers?

Cases like fatal robotic surgery complications highlight regulatory gaps.

2) Over-reliance on technology

Surgeons may lose manual skills if dependent solely on robots.

Solution: Train surgeons in both robotic and traditional techniques.

3) High costs

Systems like da Vinci cost millions, limiting accessibility in developing nations.

Future solutions focus on low-cost AI-driven robotic platforms.

11.6 The future of robotic surgery

1) Nanorobots for in-body procedures

Microscopic robots could deliver drugs or repair tissues internally.

Example: MIT's Nanobot project.

2) VR and remote surgery

Surgeons may operate via VR headsets with robotic precision.

Critical for remote areas or disaster zones.

3) AI-integrated smart operating rooms

IoT sensors monitor vital signs and adjust robotic actions in real time.

11.7 Conclusion

AI doesn't replace surgeons it becomes a "superpowered assistant", boosting precision and reducing risks. As technology advances, we'll see more autonomous systems, but ethical and legal challenges remain. The future points toward safer, personalized, and universally accessible surgery, powered by AI.

Final Reflections: Intelligence, Innovation, and the Future of Human-Centered Healthcare

As we conclude this exploration of Artificial Intelligence (AI) in biomedical engineering, we find ourselves standing at a defining moment in the evolution of medicine one where human ingenuity and machine intelligence converge to save lives, reduce suffering, and redefine what healthcare means in the 21st century.

Throughout the previous chapters, we have examined how AI is transforming the biomedical landscape. From detecting cardiac anomalies in ECGs with unprecedented speed, to discovering new molecular compounds that could become life-saving drugs, AI is not just improving healthcare it is enabling forms of care that were previously impossible.

But while the technologies discussed are remarkable, it is not just the algorithms, neural networks, or predictive models that matter. What ultimately defines the value of AI in biomedicine is how it is used, who it serves, and whether it uplifts the quality of human life. Technology without compassion, innovation without ethics, and intelligence without responsibility cannot fulfill the promise of a healthier, more just world.

12.1 Embracing a new paradigm of care

AI is helping us shift from:

- Reactive care to proactive prevention.
- Standardized protocols to personalized treatments.
- Isolated clinical episodes to continuous, context-aware monitoring.

This new paradigm is more connected, adaptive, and patient-centered. It repositions healthcare as a collaborative partnership between people and intelligent systems one where clinicians are empowered, not replaced; where patients are understood, not generalized; and where data serves healing, not bureaucracy.

12.2 Challenges that demand continued vigilance

As we move forward, critical challenges remain:

- Ensuring that AI systems are transparent and explainable, especially in high-stakes decisions.
- Preventing algorithmic bias that may inadvertently worsen health disparities.
- Establishing robust regulations and standards for safety, privacy, and ethical governance.
- Educating the next generation of clinicians, engineers, and policymakers to collaborate across disciplines.

These are not technical obstacles alone they are societal, philosophical, and human. And solving them will require wisdom, not just code.

12.3 A vision for the next decade

In the decade ahead, we will likely see:

- Autonomous diagnostic agents becoming routine in primary care.
- Real-time AI monitors detecting life-threatening events before they occur.
- Digital twins simulating individual patients' responses to drugs or procedures.
- AI-assisted surgery, where precision, safety, and recovery are optimized.
- Global AI collaboration platforms, democratizing access to advanced diagnostics worldwide.

These are not dreams of the distant future they are projects already underway. The question is not whether AI will change medicine, but how well we guide it to serve humanity.

Final words

This book has traced a journey across science, engineering, and human care. In every chapter, we've seen how algorithms when carefully developed and thoughtfully applied can truly save lives. But it is not the algorithms alone that carry this promise. It is the people behind them. The clinicians who validate them. The engineers who build them. The patients whose trust gives them meaning.

If we approach the future with humility, integrity, and a relentless focus

on equity and empathy, then artificial intelligence in biomedical engineering will not be merely a tool it will be a testament to what is possible when human values and machine capabilities move forward together.

A Call to Action: Building the Future of Ethical and Equitable AI in Biomedicine

The advancement of artificial intelligence in biomedical engineering is not simply a technological evolution it is a profound responsibility. As AI systems increasingly influence clinical decisions, patient outcomes, and healthcare infrastructures worldwide, the imperative has never been clearer: we must ensure that AI is built not only for accuracy and efficiency, but for fairness, accessibility, and humanity.

This chapter serves as a call to action for researchers, clinicians, developers, policymakers, and educators to shape a future in which biomedical AI is not only intelligent, but also just.

13.1 Equity in innovation: Closing the health divide

While AI offers the promise of global health transformation, its benefits have not been evenly distributed. Most AI models are trained on data from high-income, urban, and predominantly Western populations. The result? Tools that work well for some and fail others.

What must be done:

Develop global datasets that include underrepresented populations.

Prioritize localization and cultural adaptation of AI tools.

Invest in open-source platforms that can be customized and deployed in resource-limited settings.

Design with inclusion at every step from data collection to model evaluation.

13.2 Educating the next generation

To sustain ethical progress in biomedical AI, we need professionals who are not only technically skilled, but also ethically grounded, interdisciplinary, and globally minded.

Educational initiatives should include:

Interdisciplinary programs blending medicine, engineering, data science, and ethics.

Case-based learning on the unintended consequences of AI in healthcare.

Engagement with real-world datasets and ethical dilemmas in model deployment.

Training in responsible research practices and inclusive innovation.

13.3 Governance, policy, and the public voice

AI is too powerful and too consequential to be left to technologists alone. Governments, institutions, and civil society must play an active role in shaping how AI is deployed in medicine.

Policy priorities include:

Regulatory frameworks that balance innovation with patient safety.

Guidelines for explainability, transparency, and accountability.

Requirements for bias testing and fairness audits.

Mechanisms for involving patients and public voices in decision-making.

Ethical AI governance is not a one-time task it is a continuous process of dialogue, revision, and collective oversight.

13.4 The role of clinicians in the age of algorithms

Clinicians are not being replaced they are being redefined. Their role now includes:

Interpreting AI outputs alongside clinical judgment.

Monitoring algorithm performance in real-world settings.

Communicating risks and uncertainties to patients transparently.

Advocating for systems that respect patient dignity and autonomy.

In short, the future of medicine is not AI alone but AI empowered by clinicians who understand its strengths, limitations, and human context.

13.5 A global pact for responsible AI in health

To guide collective progress, the international community can pursue a Global Pact for AI in medicine similar in spirit to frameworks like the Paris Agreement for climate or the Declaration of Helsinki for human research.

Such a pact would promote:

Transparency in algorithmic development

Global collaboration and data sharing

Equity in access and deployment

Shared ethical principles and patient protections

This vision demands not only policy leadership, but moral clarity: that saving lives with AI should not come at the cost of fairness, dignity, or human rights.

Conclusion

The integration of Artificial Intelligence (AI) into biomedical engineering represents one of the most significant and disruptive advancements in the history of healthcare innovation. This book has offered a comprehensive and interdisciplinary examination of how AI is being embedded into the fabric of medical science from early diagnostics and real-time monitoring to drug discovery, personalized therapy, and clinical decision-making. The transformative nature of AI stems not only from its computational power but from its capacity to uncover hidden patterns, accelerate complex processes, and extend the capabilities of clinicians and researchers alike.

Across the ten core chapters, we have traced the progression of AI applications in biomedicine, beginning with foundational principles and advancing toward specialized implementations in imaging, biosignals, wearables, and remote care systems. We have further explored AI's growing role in revolutionizing drug development pipelines, precision medicine strategies, and the mitigation of diagnostic errors areas that collectively address some of the most pressing challenges in modern healthcare systems. These insights have been supported by empirical evidence, case studies, and a critical analysis of contemporary tools and methodologies.

However, technological advancement alone is insufficient. The success of AI in biomedical engineering hinges on ethical, transparent, and equitable implementation. Throughout this book, particular attention has been paid to the broader implications of deploying AI in clinical settings. Topics such as explainability, algorithmic bias, privacy preservation, regulatory compliance, and fairness must remain central to AI design and governance. An inclusive, patient-centered, and globally collaborative approach is essential to ensure that AI enhances not disrupts trust, accountability, and access in medical care.

Looking ahead, the continued convergence of AI with emerging technologies including digital twins, federated learning, neuroengineering, and bioinformatics suggests an exciting and rapidly evolving future. Yet it also calls for new forms of interdisciplinary literacy, policy oversight, and global coordination. The trajectory of AI in biomedicine must be shaped not only by what is possible, but by what is responsible.

In summary, this book underscores the potential of AI to serve as a catalyst for smarter, safer, and more personalized medicine. It affirms that when guided by ethical principles and scientific rigor, AI has the power not merely to enhance healthcare but to save lives. The challenge now lies in translating this potential into sustainable, scalable, and human-centered systems that benefit all.

References

- 1. Abadi, M., Barham, P., Chen, J., Chen, Z., Davis, A., Dean, J., ... & Zheng, X. (2016). TensorFlow: A system for large-scale machine learning. OSDI, 16, 265-283.
- Ahmed, Z., Mohamed, K., Zeeshan, S., & Dong, X. (2020). Artificial intelligence with multi-functional machine learning platform development for better healthcare and precision medicine. Database, 2020.
- 3. Alpaydin, E. (2020). Introduction to machine learning. MIT Press.
- 4. Amisha, P. M., Pathania, M., & Rathaur, V. K. (2019). Overview of artificial intelligence in medicine. Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 8(7), 2328-2331.
- Arbabshirani, M. R., Fornwalt, B. K., Mongelluzzo, G. J., Suever, J. D., Geise, B. D., Patel, A. A., & Moore, G. J. (2018). Advanced machine learning in action: Identification of intracranial hemorrhage on computed tomography scans of the head with clinical workflow integration. NPJ Digital Medicine, 1(1), 1-7.
- Attia, Z. I., Noseworthy, P. A., Lopez-Jimenez, F., Asirvatham, S. J., Deshmukh, A. J., Gersh, B. J., ... & Friedman, P. A. (2019). An artificial intelligence-enabled ECG algorithm for the identification of patients with atrial fibrillation during sinus rhythm: A retrospective analysis of outcome prediction. The Lancet, 394(10201), 861-867.
- 7. Bahl, S., & Garg, D. (2020). Artificial intelligence in healthcare: A review. Journal of Medical Systems, 44(7), 1-8.
- 8. Bengio, Y., Courville, A., & Vincent, P. (2013). Representation learning: A review and new perspectives. IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence, 35(8), 1798-1828.
- 9. Bishop, C. M. (2006). Pattern recognition and machine learning. Springer.
- Bolón-Canedo, V., & Alonso-Betanzos, A. (2019). Ensembles for feature selection: A review and future trends. Information Fusion, 52, 1-12.

- 11. Bzdok, D., Altman, N., & Krzywinski, M. (2018). Statistics versus machine learning. Nature Methods, 15(4), 233-234.
- Caruana, R., Lou, Y., Gehrke, J., Koch, P., Sturm, M., & Elhadad, N. (2015). Intelligible models for healthcare: Predicting pneumonia risk and hospital 30-day readmission. Proceedings of the 21th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, 1721-1730.
- 13. Castelvecchi, D. (2016). Can we open the black box of AI? Nature News, 538(7623), 20.
- Chakraborty, S., Tomsett, R., Raghavendra, R., Harborne, D., Alzantot, M., Cerutti, F., ... & Srivastava, M. (2017). Interpretability of deep learning models: A survey of results. IEEE SmartWorld, 1-6.
- Chen, H., Engkvist, O., Wang, Y., Olivecrona, M., & Blaschke, T. (2018). The rise of deep learning in drug discovery. Drug Discovery Today, 23(6), 1241-1250.
- 16. Chen, P. H. C., Liu, Y., & Peng, L. (2019). How to develop machine learning models for healthcare. Nature Materials, 18(5), 410-414.
- 17. Ching, T., Himmelstein, D. S., Beaulieu-Jones, B. K., Kalinin, A. A., Do, B. T., Way, G. P., ... & Greene, C. S. (2018). Opportunities and obstacles for deep learning in biology and medicine. Journal of The Royal Society Interface, 15(141), 20170387.
- Cireşan, D. C., Giusti, A., Gambardella, L. M., & Schmidhuber, J. (2013). Mitosis detection in breast cancer histology images with deep neural networks. Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention, 16(Pt 2), 411-418.
- De Fauw, J., Ledsam, J. R., Romera-Paredes, B., Nikolov, S., Tomasev, N., Blackwell, S., ... & Ronneberger, O. (2018). Clinically applicable deep learning for diagnosis and referral in retinal disease. Nature Medicine, 24(9), 1342-1350.
- Deng, J., Dong, W., Socher, R., Li, L. J., Li, K., & Fei-Fei, L. (2009).
 ImageNet: A large-scale hierarchical image database. IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 248-255.
- Esteva, A., Kuprel, B., Novoa, R. A., Ko, J., Swetter, S. M., Blau, H. M., & Thrun, S. (2017). Dermatologist-level classification of skin cancer with deep neural networks. Nature, 542(7639), 115-118.
- 22. Esteva, A., Robicquet, A., Ramsundar, B., Kuleshov, V., DePristo, M.,

- Chou, K., ... & Dean, J. (2019). A guide to deep learning in healthcare. Nature Medicine, 25(1), 24-29.
- 23. Fogel, A. L., & Kvedar, J. C. (2018). Artificial intelligence powers digital medicine. NPJ Digital Medicine, 1(1), 1-4.
- 24. Gawehn, E., Hiss, J. A., & Schneider, G. (2016). Deep learning in drug discovery. Molecular Informatics, 35(1), 3-14.
- 25. Goodfellow, I., Bengio, Y., & Courville, A. (2016). Deep learning. MIT Press.
- Gulshan, V., Peng, L., Coram, M., Stumpe, M. C., Wu, D., Narayanaswamy, A., ... & Webster, D. R. (2016). Development and validation of a deep learning algorithm for detection of diabetic retinopathy in retinal fundus photographs. JAMA, 316(22), 2402-2410.
- 27. He, K., Zhang, X., Ren, S., & Sun, J. (2016). Deep residual learning for image recognition. Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 770-778.
- 28. Hochreiter, S., & Schmidhuber, J. (1997). Long short-term memory. Neural Computation, 9(8), 1735-1780.
- 29. Holzinger, A. (2016). Interactive machine learning for health informatics: When do we need the human-in-the-loop? Brain Informatics, 3(2), 119-131.
- Holzinger, A., Langs, G., Denk, H., Zatloukal, K., & Müller, H. (2019).
 Causability and explainability of artificial intelligence in medicine.
 Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery, 9(4), e1312.
- 31. Jiang, F., Jiang, Y., Zhi, H., Dong, Y., Li, H., Ma, S., ... & Wang, Y. (2017). Artificial intelligence in healthcare: Past, present and future. Stroke and Vascular Neurology, 2(4), 230-243.
- 32. Jordan, M. I., & Mitchell, T. M. (2015). Machine learning: Trends, perspectives, and prospects. Science, 349(6245), 255-260.
- 33. Kermany, D. S., Goldbaum, M., Cai, W., Valentim, C. C., Liang, H., Baxter, S. L., ... & Zhang, K. (2018). Identifying medical diagnoses and treatable diseases by image-based deep learning. Cell, 172(5), 1122-1131.
- 34. Kingma, D. P., & Welling, M. (2013). Auto-encoding variational Bayes. arXiv preprint arXiv:1312.6114.

- 35. LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., & Hinton, G. (2015). Deep learning. Nature, 521(7553), 436-444.
- Lee, J. G., Jun, S., Cho, Y. W., Lee, H., Kim, G. B., Seo, J. B., & Kim, N. (2017). Deep learning in medical imaging: General overview. Korean Journal of Radiology, 18(4), 570-584.
- 37. Lipton, Z. C. (2018). The mythos of model interpretability. Communications of the ACM, 61(10), 36-43.
- 38. Litjens, G., Kooi, T., Bejnordi, B. E., Setio, A. A., Ciompi, F., Ghafoorian, M., ... & Sánchez, C. I. (2017). A survey on deep learning in medical image analysis. Medical Image Analysis, 42, 60-88.
- 39. Liu, X., Rivera, S. C., Moher, D., Calvert, M. J., & Denniston, A. K. (2020). Reporting guidelines for clinical trial reports for interventions involving artificial intelligence: The CONSORT-AI extension. BMJ, 370, m3164.
- 40. Lundberg, S. M., & Lee, S. I. (2017). A unified approach to interpreting model predictions. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 4765-4774.
- 41. Mamoshina, P., Vieira, A., Putin, E., & Zhavoronkov, A. (2016). Applications of deep learning in biomedicine. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 13(5), 1445-1454.
- 42. Marcus, G. (2018). Deep learning: A critical appraisal. arXiv preprint arXiv:1801.00631.
- 43. Miotto, R., Wang, F., Wang, S., Jiang, X., & Dudley, J. T. (2018). Deep learning for healthcare: Review, opportunities and challenges. Briefings in Bioinformatics, 19(6), 1236-1246.
- 44. Mitchell, T. M. (1997). Machine learning. McGraw-Hill.
- 45. Murphy, K. P. (2012). Machine learning: A probabilistic perspective. MIT Press.
- 46. Naylor, C. D. (2018). On the prospects for a (deep) learning health care system. JAMA, 320(11), 1099-1100.
- 47. Obermeyer, Z., & Emanuel, E. J. (2016). Predicting the future big data, machine learning, and clinical medicine. The New England Journal of Medicine, 375(13), 1216-1219.
- 48. Pan, S. J., & Yang, Q. (2010). A survey on transfer learning. IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering, 22(10), 1345-1359.

- 49. Pearl, J., & Mackenzie, D. (2018). The book of why: The new science of cause and effect. Basic Books.
- 50. Price, W. N. (2017). Black-box medicine. Harvard Journal of Law & Technology, 28(2), 419-468.
- 51. Rajkomar, A., Dean, J., & Kohane, I. (2019). Machine learning in medicine. The New England Journal of Medicine, 380(14), 1347-1358.
- 52. Rajpurkar, P., Irvin, J., Zhu, K., Yang, B., Mehta, H., Duan, T., ... & Ng, A. Y. (2017). CheXNet: Radiologist-level pneumonia detection on chest X-rays with deep learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:1711.05225.
- 53. Ramesh, A. N., Kambhampati, C., Monson, J. R., & Drew, P. J. (2004). Artificial intelligence in medicine. Annals of the Royal College of Surgeons of England, 86(5), 334-338.
- 54. Ribeiro, M. T., Singh, S., & Guestrin, C. (2016). "Why should I trust you?" Explaining the predictions of any classifier. Proceedings of the 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, 1135-1144.
- 55. Rieke, N., Hancox, J., Li, W., Milletari, F., Roth, H. R., Albarqouni, S., ... & Cardoso, M. J. (2020). The future of digital health with federated learning. NPJ Digital Medicine, 3(1), 1-7.
- 56. Rumelhart, D. E., Hinton, G. E., & Williams, R. J. (1986). Learning representations by back-propagating errors. Nature, 323(6088), 533-536.
- 57. Russakovsky, O., Deng, J., Su, H., Krause, J., Satheesh, S., Ma, S., ... & Fei-Fei, L. (2015). ImageNet large scale visual recognition challenge. International Journal of Computer Vision, 115(3), 211-252.
- 58. Schmidhuber, J. (2015). Deep learning in neural networks: An overview. Neural Networks, 61, 85-117.
- 59. Shalev-Shwartz, S., & Ben-David, S. (2014). Understanding machine learning: From theory to algorithms. Cambridge University Press.
- 60. Silver, D., Huang, A., Maddison, C. J., Guez, A., Sifre, L., Van Den Driessche, G., ... & Hassabis, D. (2016). Mastering the game of Go with deep neural networks and tree search. Nature, 529(7587), 484-489.
- 61. Simonyan, K., & Zisserman, A. (2014). Very deep convolutional networks for large-scale image recognition. arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.1556.
- 62. Somashekhar, S. P., Sepúlveda, M. J., Puglielli, S., Norden, A. D., Shortliffe, E. H., Rohit Kumar, C., ... & Kumar, R. (2018). Watson for

- Oncology and breast cancer treatment recommendations: Agreement with an expert multidisciplinary tumor board. Annals of Oncology, 29(2), 418-423.
- 63. Sutton, R. S., & Barto, A. G. (2018). Reinforcement learning: An introduction. MIT Press.
- 64. Topol, E. (2019). Deep medicine: How artificial intelligence can make healthcare human again. Basic Books.
- 65. Topol, E. J. (2019). High-performance medicine: The convergence of human and artificial intelligence. Nature Medicine, 25(1), 44-56.
- Vamathevan, J., Clark, D., Czodrowski, P., Dunham, I., Ferran, E., Lee, G., ... & Bender, A. (2019). Applications of machine learning in drug discovery and development. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 18(6), 463-477.
- 67. Vaswani, A., Shazeer, N., Parmar, N., Uszkoreit, J., Jones, L., Gomez, A. N., ... & Polosukhin, I. (2017). Attention is all you need. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 5998-6008.
- 68. Wang, D., Khosla, A., Gargeya, R., Irshad, H., & Beck, A. H. (2016). Deep learning for identifying metastatic breast cancer. arXiv preprint arXiv:1606.05718.
- 69. Weng, S. F., Reps, J., Kai, J., Garibaldi, J. M., & Qureshi, N. (2017). Can machine-learning improve cardiovascular risk prediction using routine clinical data? PLoS One, 12(4), e0174944.
- 70. Yu, K. H., Beam, A. L., & Kohane, I. S. (2018). Artificial intelligence in healthcare. Nature Biomedical Engineering, 2(10), 719-731.
- 71. Zhang, L., Tan, J., Han, D., & Zhu, H. (2017). From machine learning to deep learning: Progress in machine intelligence for rational drug discovery. Drug Discovery Today, 22(11), 1680-1685.
- 72. Zhou, S. K., Greenspan, H., & Shen, D. (2017). Deep learning for medical image analysis. Academic Press.
- 73. Zou, J., Huss, M., Abid, A., Mohammadi, P., Torkamani, A., & Telenti, A. (2019). A primer on deep learning in genomics. Nature Genetics, 51(1), 12-18.
- Abulnaga, S. M., & Rubin, J. (2019). Pancreatic tumor segmentation in medical images using 3D convolutional neural networks. Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention, 11764, 448-456.

- 75. Adadi, A., & Berrada, M. (2018). Peeking inside the black-box: A survey on explainable AI. IEEE Access, 6, 52138-52160.
- 76. Aerts, H. J. (2016). The potential of radiomic-based phenotyping in precision medicine. JAMA Oncology, 2(12), 1636-1642.
- 77. Al-Stouhi, S., & Reddy, C. K. (2016). Transfer learning for class imbalance problems with inadequate data. Knowledge and Information Systems, 48(1), 201-228.
- 78. Amann, J., Blasimme, A., Vayena, E., Frey, D., & Madai, V. I. (2020). Explainability for artificial intelligence in healthcare: A multidisciplinary perspective. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making, 20(1), 1-9.
- 79. Angermueller, C., Pärnamaa, T., Parts, L., & Stegle, O. (2016). Deep learning for computational biology. Molecular Systems Biology, 12(7), 878.
- 80. Arora, S., Bhaskara, A., Ge, R., & Ma, T. (2016). Provable learning of overcomplete latent variable models. Journal of Machine Learning Research, 17(1), 3485-3522.
- 81. Ashrafian, H., Clifton, D. A., & Darzi, A. (2015). Beyond artificial intelligence: From augmented intelligence to augmented humanity. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 17(6), e135.
- 82. Avati, A., Jung, K., Harman, S., Downing, L., Ng, A., & Shah, N. H. (2018). Improving palliative care with deep learning. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making, 18(4), 122-129.
- 83. Bae, S., Choi, H., & Lee, D. S. (2017). Discovery of aberrant transcription factor networks in cancer from gene expression data. Bioinformatics, 33(1), 1-8.
- 84. Balthazar, P., Harri, P., Prater, A., & Safdar, N. M. (2018). Protecting your patients' interests in the era of big data, artificial intelligence, and predictive analytics. Journal of the American College of Radiology, 15(3), 580-586.
- 85. Barabási, A. L., Gulbahce, N., & Loscalzo, J. (2011). Network medicine: A network-based approach to human disease. Nature Reviews Genetics, 12(1), 56-68.
- 86. Beam, A. L., & Kohane, I. S. (2018). Big data and machine learning in health care. JAMA, 319(13), 1317-1318.

- 87. Benjamens, S., Dhunnoo, P., & Meskó, B. (2020). The state of artificial intelligence-based FDA-approved medical devices and algorithms. NPJ Digital Medicine, 3(1), 1-8.
- 88. Bera, K., Schalper, K. A., Rimm, D. L., Velcheti, V., & Madabhushi, A. (2019). Artificial intelligence in digital pathology new tools for diagnosis and precision oncology. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, 16(11), 703-715.
- 89. Bergquist, S. L., Brooks, G. A., Keating, N. L., & Landrum, M. B. (2017). Classifying lung cancer severity with ensemble machine learning in health care claims data. Machine Learning in Healthcare, 68, 25-38.
- 90. Bhardwaj, R., Nambiar, A. R., & Dutta, D. (2017). A study of machine learning in healthcare. IEEE 41st Annual Computer Software and Applications Conference, 2, 236-241.
- 91. Bi, W. L., Hosny, A., Schabath, M. B., Giger, M. L., Birkbak, N. J., Mehrtash, A., ... & Aerts, H. J. (2019). Artificial intelligence in cancer imaging: Clinical challenges and applications. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 69(2), 127-157.
- 92. Bibault, J. E., Giraud, P., & Burgun, A. (2016). Big data and machine learning in radiation oncology: State of the art and future prospects. Cancer Letters, 382(1), 110-117.
- 93. Bini, S. A. (2018). Artificial intelligence, machine learning, deep learning, and cognitive computing: What do these terms mean and how will they impact health care? The Journal of Arthroplasty, 33(8), 2358-2361.
- 94. Bloice, M. D., & Holzinger, A. (2016). A tutorial on machine learning and data science tools with Python. Machine Learning for Health Informatics, 435-480.
- 95. Boecking, B., Neyshabur, B., Krueger, D., & Salakhutdinov, R. (2020). Interactive interpretability for medical AI systems. Machine Learning for Healthcare, 126, 1-15.
- 96. Bolukbasi, T., Chang, K. W., Zou, J. Y., Saligrama, V., & Kalai, A. T. (2016). Man is to computer programmer as woman is to homemaker? Debiasing word embeddings. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 4349-4357.
- 97. Bommert, A., Sun, X., Bischl, B., Rahnenführer, J., & Lang, M. (2020). Benchmark for filter methods for feature selection in high-dimensional

- classification data. Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, 143, 106839.
- 98. Bonaccorso, G. (2018). Machine learning algorithms. Packt Publishing.
- 99. Bora, A., & Jalal, A. (2020). Privacy-preserving generative deep neural networks support clinical data sharing. Nature Biomedical Engineering, 4(8), 791-800.
- 100.Bostrom, N., & Yudkowsky, E. (2014). The ethics of artificial intelligence. Cambridge Handbook of Artificial Intelligence, 316-334.
- 101.Brinker, T. J., Hekler, A., Utikal, J. S., Grabe, N., Schadendorf, D., Klode, J., ... & von Kalle, C. (2018). Skin cancer classification using convolutional neural networks: Systematic review. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 20(10), e11936.
- 102. Brosch, T., Tam, R., & Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative. (2016). Manifold learning of brain MRIs by deep learning. Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention, 9901, 633-640.
- 103. Brown, T. B., Mann, B., Ryder, N., Subbiah, M., Kaplan, J., Dhariwal, P., ... & Amodei, D. (2020). Language models are few-shot learners. arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.14165.
- 104. Buch, V. H., Ahmed, I., & Maruthappu, M. (2018). Artificial intelligence in medicine: Current trends and future possibilities. British Journal of General Practice, 68(668), 143-144.
- 105. Buolamwini, J., & Gebru, T. (2018). Gender shades: Intersectional accuracy disparities in commercial gender classification. Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency, 77-91.
- 106. Cabitza, F., Rasoini, R., & Gensini, G. F. (2017). Unintended consequences of machine learning in medicine. JAMA, 318(6), 517-518.
- 107.Cai, L., Gao, J., & Zhao, D. (2020). A review of the application of deep learning in medical image classification and segmentation. Annals of Translational Medicine, 8(11), 713.
- 108. Calhoun, V. D., & Sui, J. (2016). Multimodal fusion of brain imaging data: A key to finding the missing link in complex mental illness. Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging, 1(3), 230-244.
- 109. Campanella, G., Hanna, M. G., Geneslaw, L., Miraflor, A., Werneck Krauss Silva, V., Busam, K. J., ... & Fuchs, T. J. (2019). Clinical-grade

- computational pathology using weakly supervised deep learning on whole slide images. Nature Medicine, 25(8), 1301-1309.
- 110. Caruana, R. (2015). Learning many related tasks at the same time with backpropagation. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 7, 657-664.
- 111. Castelvecchi, D. (2020). AI pioneers: We need more women. Nature, 578(7793), 18.
- 112.Celi, L. A., Davidzon, G., Johnson, A. E., Komorowski, M., Marshall, D. C., Nair, S. S., ... & Stone, D. J. (2016). Bridging the health data divide. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 18(12), e325.
- 113. Chan, L., & Alaa, A. M. (2019). Machine learning for clinical trials in the era of COVID-19. Statistics in Biopharmaceutical Research, 12(4), 506-517.
- 114. Chartrand, G., Cheng, P. M., Vorontsov, E., Drozdzal, M., Turcotte, S., Pal, C. J., ... & Tang, A. (2017). Deep learning: A primer for radiologists. Radiographics, 37(7), 2113-2131.
- 115. Chen, J. H., & Asch, S. M. (2017). Machine learning and prediction in medicine beyond the peak of inflated expectations. The New England Journal of Medicine, 376(26), 2507-2509.
- 116. Chen, M., Hao, Y., Hwang, K., Wang, L., & Wang, L. (2017). Disease prediction by machine learning over big data from healthcare communities. IEEE Access, 5, 8869-8879.
- 117.Chen, T., & Guestrin, C. (2016). XGBoost: A scalable tree boosting system. Proceedings of the 22nd ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, 785-794.
- 118. Ching, T., Zhu, X., & Garmire, L. X. (2018). Cox-nnet: An artificial neural network method for prognosis prediction of high-throughput omics data. PLoS Computational Biology, 14(4), e1006076.
- 119. Chollet, F. (2017). Deep learning with Python. Manning Publications.
- 120. Christodoulou, E., Ma, J., Collins, G. S., Steyerberg, E. W., Verbakel, J. Y., & Van Calster, B. (2019). A systematic review shows no performance benefit of machine learning over logistic regression for clinical prediction models. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 110, 12-22.
- 121. Cichosz, S. L., Johansen, M. D., & Hejlesen, O. (2018). Toward big data

- analytics: Review of predictive models in management of diabetes and its complications. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology, 10(1), 27-34.
- 122. Clark, K., Vendt, B., Smith, K., Freymann, J., Kirby, J., Koppel, P., ... & Prior, F. (2013). The Cancer Imaging Archive (TCIA): Maintaining and operating a public information repository. Journal of Digital Imaging, 26(6), 1045-1057.
- 123. Collins, G. S., Reitsma, J. B., Altman, D. G., & Moons, K. G. (2015). Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): The TRIPOD statement. BMJ, 350, g7594.
- 124. Cruz, J. A., & Wishart, D. S. (2006). Applications of machine learning in cancer prediction and prognosis. Cancer Informatics, 2, 59-77.
- 125.Csurka, G. (2017). Domain adaptation for visual applications: A comprehensive survey. arXiv preprint arXiv:1702.05374.
- 126.D'Amour, A., Heller, K., Moldovan, D., Adlam, B., Alipanahi, B., Beutel, A., ... & Sculley, D. (2020). Underspecification presents challenges for credibility in modern machine learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:2011.03395.
- 127. Dash, S., Shakyawar, S. K., Sharma, M., & Kaushik, S. (2019). Big data in healthcare: Management, analysis and future prospects. Journal of Big Data, 6(1), 1-25.
- 128. Davenport, T., & Kalakota, R. (2019). The potential for artificial intelligence in healthcare. Future Healthcare Journal, 6(2), 94-98.
- 129. DeGrave, A. J., Janizek, J. D., & Lee, S. I. (2021). AI for radiographic COVID-19 detection selects shortcuts over signal. Nature Machine Intelligence, 3(7), 610-619.
- 130.Deng, L., & Yu, D. (2014). Deep learning: Methods and applications. Foundations and Trends in Signal Processing, 7(3-4), 197-387.
- 131.Devlin, J., Chang, M. W., Lee, K., & Toutanova, K. (2019). BERT: Pretraining of deep bidirectional transformers for language understanding. Proceedings of NAACL-HLT, 1, 4171-4186.
- 132.Dey, D., Slomka, P. J., Leeson, P., Comaniciu, D., Shrestha, S., Sengupta, P. P., & Marwick, T. H. (2019). Artificial intelligence in cardiovascular imaging. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 73(11), 1317-1335.

- 133. Ding, Y., Sohn, J. H., Kawczynski, M. G., Trivedi, H., Harnish, R., Jenkins, N. W., ... & Franc, B. L. (2019). A deep learning model to predict a diagnosis of Alzheimer disease by using 18F-FDG PET of the brain. Radiology, 290(2), 456-464.
- 134.Doshi-Velez, F., & Kim, B. (2017). Towards a rigorous science of interpretable machine learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:1702.08608.
- 135. Dudley, J. T., & Butte, A. J. (2009). A quick guide for developing effective bioinformatics programming skills. PLoS Computational Biology, 5(12), e1000589.
- 136.Dwork, C., Hardt, M., Pitassi, T., Reingold, O., & Zemel, R. (2012). Fairness through awareness. Proceedings of the 3rd Innovations in Theoretical Computer Science Conference, 214-226.
- 137. Ekins, S., Puhl, A. C., Zorn, K. M., Lane, T. R., Russo, D. P., Klein, J. J., ... & Clark, A. M. (2019). Exploiting machine learning for end-to-end drug discovery and development. Nature Materials, 18(5), 435-441.
- 138.El Naqa, I., & Murphy, M. J. (2015). What is machine learning? Machine Learning in Radiation Oncology, 3-11.
- 139. Esteva, A., Chou, K., Yeung, S., Naik, N., Madani, A., Mottaghi, A., ... & Socher, R. (2021). Deep learning-enabled medical computer vision. NPJ Digital Medicine, 4(1), 1-9.
- 140. Esteva, A., Robicquet, A., Ramsundar, B., Kuleshov, V., DePristo, M., Chou, K., ... & Dean, J. (2019). A guide to deep learning in healthcare. Nature Medicine, 25(1), 24-29.
- 141. Fogel, A. L., & Kvedar, J. C. (2018). Artificial intelligence powers digital medicine. NPJ Digital Medicine, 1(1), 1-4.
- 142. Foster, K. R., Koprowski, R., & Skufca, J. D. (2014). Machine learning, medical diagnosis, and biomedical engineering research commentary. BioMedical Engineering OnLine, 13(1), 1-9.
- 143.Futoma, J., Simons, M., Panch, T., Doshi-Velez, F., & Celi, L. A. (2020). The myth of generalisability in clinical research and machine learning in health care. The Lancet Digital Health, 2(9), e489-e492.
- 144. Gandomi, A., & Haider, M. (2015). Beyond the hype: Big data concepts, methods, and analytics. International Journal of Information Management, 35(2), 137-144.
- 145. García, S., Ramírez-Gallego, S., Luengo, J., Benítez, J. M., & Herrera,

- F. (2016). Big data preprocessing: Methods and prospects. Big Data Analytics, 1(1), 1-22.
- 146.Garg, S., Garg, S., & Garg, A. (2018). Artificial intelligence in healthcare: A review. Journal of Medical Systems, 42(8), 1-8.
- 147. Giger, M. L. (2018). Machine learning in medical imaging. Journal of the American College of Radiology, 15(3), 512-520.
- 148. Gilvary, C., Madhukar, N., Elkhader, J., & Elemento, O. (2019). The missing pieces of artificial intelligence in medicine. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 40(8), 555-564.
- 149. Goecks, J., Jalili, V., Heiser, L. M., & Gray, J. W. (2020). How machine learning will transform biomedicine. Cell, 181(1), 92-101.
- 150. Goldstein, B. A., Navar, A. M., Pencina, M. J., & Ioannidis, J. P. (2017). Opportunities and challenges in developing risk prediction models with electronic health records data: A systematic review. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association, 24(1), 198-208.
- 151. Goodfellow, I., Pouget-Abadie, J., Mirza, M., Xu, B., Warde-Farley, D., Ozair, S., ... & Bengio, Y. (2014). Generative adversarial nets. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 2672-2680.
- 152. Greenspan, H., van Ginneken, B., & Summers, R. M. (2016). Guest editorial deep learning in medical imaging: Overview and future promise of an exciting new technique. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, 35(5), 1153-1159.
- 153.Gulshan, V., Peng, L., Coram, M., Stumpe, M. C., Wu, D., Narayanaswamy, A., ... & Webster, D. R. (2016). Development and validation of a deep learning algorithm for detection of diabetic retinopathy in retinal fundus photographs. JAMA, 316(22), 2402-2410.
- 154.Guo, Y., Liu, Y., Oerlemans, A., Lao, S., Wu, S., & Lew, M. S. (2016). Deep learning for visual understanding: A review. Neurocomputing, 187, 27-48.
- 155. Haenssle, H. A., Fink, C., Schneiderbauer, R., Toberer, F., Buhl, T., Blum, A., ... & Zalaudek, I. (2018). Man against machine: Diagnostic performance of a deep learning convolutional neural network for dermoscopic melanoma recognition in comparison to 58 dermatologists. Annals of Oncology, 29(8), 1836-1842.
- 156. Harrer, S., Shah, P., Antony, B., & Hu, J. (2019). Artificial intelligence for clinical trial design. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 40(8), 577-591.

- 157.He, J., Baxter, S. L., Xu, J., Xu, J., Zhou, X., & Zhang, K. (2019). The practical implementation of artificial intelligence technologies in medicine. Nature Medicine, 25(1), 30-36.
- 158.He, K., Zhang, X., Ren, S., & Sun, J. (2016). Deep residual learning for image recognition. Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 770-778.
- 159. Hinton, G. (2018). Deep learning a technology with the potential to transform health care. JAMA, 320(11), 1101-1102.
- 160.Ho, T. K. (1995). Random decision forests. Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Document Analysis and Recognition, 1, 278-282.
- 161. Holzinger, A., Biemann, C., Pattichis, C. S., & Kell, D. B. (2017). What do we need to build explainable AI systems for the medical domain? arXiv preprint arXiv:1712.09923.
- 162. Hosny, A., Parmar, C., Quackenbush, J., Schwartz, L. H., & Aerts, H. J. (2018). Artificial intelligence in radiology. Nature Reviews Cancer, 18(8), 500-510.
- 163. Howard, J., & Gugger, S. (2020). Deep learning for coders with fastai and PyTorch. O'Reilly Media.
- 164.Hu, J., Shen, L., & Sun, G. (2018). Squeeze-and-excitation networks. Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 7132-7141.
- 165. Huang, G., Liu, Z., Van Der Maaten, L., & Weinberger, K. Q. (2017). Densely connected convolutional networks. Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 4700-4708.
- 166.Iandola, F. N., Han, S., Moskewicz, M. W., Ashraf, K., Dally, W. J., & Keutzer, K. (2016). SqueezeNet: AlexNet-level accuracy with 50x fewer parameters and <0.5 MB model size. arXiv preprint arXiv:1602.07360.
- 167. Jamaludin, A., Kadir, T., & Zisserman, A. (2017). Self-supervised learning for spinal MRIs. Deep Learning in Medical Image Analysis and Multimodal Learning for Clinical Decision Support, 294-302.
- 168. Janowczyk, A., & Madabhushi, A. (2016). Deep learning for digital pathology image analysis: A comprehensive tutorial with selected use cases. Journal of Pathology Informatics, 7(1), 29.
- 169. Jha, S., & Topol, E. J. (2016). Adapting to artificial intelligence:

- Radiologists and pathologists as information specialists. JAMA, 316(22), 2353-2354.
- 170. Jiang, F., Jiang, Y., Zhi, H., Dong, Y., Li, H., Ma, S., ... & Wang, Y. (2017). Artificial intelligence in healthcare: Past, present and future. Stroke and Vascular Neurology, 2(4), 230-243.
- 171. Johnson, A. E., Pollard, T. J., Shen, L., Lehman, L. W., Feng, M., Ghassemi, M., ... & Mark, R. G. (2016). MIMIC-III, a freely accessible critical care database. Scientific Data, 3(1), 1-9.
- 172. Jordan, M. I., & Mitchell, T. M. (2015). Machine learning: Trends, perspectives, and prospects. Science, 349(6245), 255-260.
- 173. Joshi, R. P., & Kotecha, R. (2021). Artificial intelligence in radiation oncology. Seminars in Radiation Oncology, 31(1), 20-27.
- 174. Kaelbling, L. P., Littman, M. L., & Moore, A. W. (1996). Reinforcement learning: A survey. Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research, 4, 237-285.
- 175. Kaushal, A., Altman, R., & Langlotz, C. (2020). Geographic distribution of US cohorts used to train deep learning algorithms. JAMA, 324(12), 1212-1213.
- 176. Kelly, C. J., Karthikesalingam, A., Suleyman, M., Corrado, G., & King, D. (2019). Key challenges for delivering clinical impact with artificial intelligence. BMC Medicine, 17(1), 1-9.
- 177. Kermany, D. S., Goldbaum, M., Cai, W., Valentim, C. C., Liang, H., Baxter, S. L., ... & Zhang, K. (2018). Identifying medical diagnoses and treatable diseases by image-based deep learning. Cell, 172(5), 1122-1131.
- 178.Kingma, D. P., & Ba, J. (2014). Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980.
- 179.Koh, P. W., & Liang, P. (2017). Understanding black-box predictions via influence functions. Proceedings of the 34th International Conference on Machine Learning, 70, 1885-1894.
- 180.Krizhevsky, A., Sutskever, I., & Hinton, G. E. (2012). ImageNet classification with deep convolutional neural networks. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 25, 1097-1105.
- 181.Kumar, V., Gu, Y., Basu, S., Berglund, A., Eschrich, S. A., Schabath, M. B., ... & Gillies, R. J. (2012). Radiomics: The process and the challenges. Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 30(9), 1234-1248.

- 182.LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., & Hinton, G. (2015). Deep learning. Nature, 521(7553), 436-444.
- 183.Lee, J. G., Jun, S., Cho, Y. W., Lee, H., Kim, G. B., Seo, J. B., & Kim, N. (2017). Deep learning in medical imaging: General overview. Korean Journal of Radiology, 18(4), 570-584.
- 184.Li, L., Jamieson, K., DeSalvo, G., Rostamizadeh, A., & Talwalkar, A. (2017). Hyperband: A novel bandit-based approach to hyperparameter optimization. Journal of Machine Learning Research, 18(1), 6765-6816.
- 185.Lipton, Z. C. (2018). The mythos of model interpretability. Communications of the ACM, 61(10), 36-43.
- 186.Litjens, G., Kooi, T., Bejnordi, B. E., Setio, A. A., Ciompi, F., Ghafoorian, M., ... & Sánchez, C. I. (2017). A survey on deep learning in medical image analysis. Medical Image Analysis, 42, 60-88.
- 187.Liu, X., Rivera, S. C., Moher, D., Calvert, M. J., & Denniston, A. K. (2020). Reporting guidelines for clinical trial reports for interventions involving artificial intelligence: The CONSORT-AI extension. BMJ, 370, m3164.
- 188. Lundberg, S. M., & Lee, S. I. (2017). A unified approach to interpreting model predictions. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 4765-4774.
- 189.Luo, W., Phung, D., Tran, T., Gupta, S., Rana, S., Karmakar, C., ... & Venkatesh, S. (2016). Guidelines for developing and reporting machine learning predictive models in biomedical research: A multidisciplinary view. Journal of Medical Internet Research, 18(12), e323.
- 190.Maier, A., Syben, C., Lasser, T., & Riess, C. (2019). A gentle introduction to deep learning in medical image processing. Zeitschrift für Medizinische Physik, 29(2), 86-101.
- 191.Marcus, G. (2018). Deep learning: A critical appraisal. arXiv preprint arXiv:1801.00631.
- 192.McKinney, S. M., Sieniek, M., Godbole, V., Godwin, J., Antropova, N., Ashrafian, H., ... & Shetty, S. (2020). International evaluation of an AI system for breast cancer screening. Nature, 577(7788), 89-94.
- 193.Miotto, R., Wang, F., Wang, S., Jiang, X., & Dudley, J. T. (2018). Deep learning for healthcare: Review, opportunities and challenges. Briefings in Bioinformatics, 19(6), 1236-1246.

- 194. Mitchell, T. M. (1997). Machine learning. McGraw-Hill.
- 195.Murphy, K. P. (2012). Machine learning: A probabilistic perspective. MIT Press.
- 196. Naylor, C. D. (2018). On the prospects for a (deep) learning health care system. JAMA, 320(11), 1099-1100.
- 197. Obermeyer, Z., & Emanuel, E. J. (2016). Predicting the future big data, machine learning, and clinical medicine. The New England Journal of Medicine, 375(13), 1216-1219.
- 198.Pan, S. J., & Yang, Q. (2010). A survey on transfer learning. IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering, 22(10), 1345-1359.
- 199. Pearl, J., & Mackenzie, D. (2018). The book of why: The new science of cause and effect. Basic Books.
- 200.Price, W. N. (2017). Black-box medicine. Harvard Journal of Law & Technology, 28(2), 419-468.